IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ARTHUR D. RUTHERFORD,

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO.



FEB 17 1988



Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR SANTA ROSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. MCLAIN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 201170

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

References to the record on appeal are designated with the prefix "R." The supplemental record and the second supplemental record are designated with "SR" and "SSR" respectively. The first trial of this case is included in a supplemental record filed on January 29, 1988, and references to this prior trial transcript will be preceded with the prefix "PT." References to the appendix to this brief are preceded with an "A."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Procedural Progress of the Case

On September 11, 1985, a Santa Rosa County grand jury indicted Arthur D. Rutherford for the first degree murder of Stella Salamon and robbery with a deadly weapon. (R 1) Several motions and hearings were conducted concerning discovery problems.(PT 974-1194) Rutherford filed a Motion for Discovery and Statement of Particulars and Production of Documents. (R 2-9) The State filed an answer merely listing 30 witnesses.(R 11-12) Rutherford filed a motion to compel (R 13), and after a hearing (PT 974-1064), the trial court entered an order directing the State to comply with discovery.(R 16-20) The order described in detail the State's obligations and the items to be disclosed.(R 16-20) On October 30, 1985, defense counsel filed a certificate of compliance, as the discovery order required, indicating portions of the order with which the State had complied. (R 21) The State filed a motion for rehearing and clarification which the trial court granted with an extensive order.(R 25-34)(PT 1065-1136) This order again detailed the State's discovery obligations.(R 25-34) On January 6, 1986, Rutherford filed a motion for continuance or for imposition of sanctions because the State had belatedly filed an additional witness list.(R 48-50)

The case proceeded to trial.(PT 1-973) Two State witnesses, Sherman Pittman and Kenneth Cook, testified to incriminating statements Rutherford allegedly made to them before the

homicide.(PT 321-345) Although the witnesses' names had been furnished to the defense on the State's discovery answer, the fact that they would testify to incriminating statements was not disclosed.(R 106-111)(PT 384-398, 578-632) The prosecutor had knowledge of the substance of the testimony before presenting the witnesses to testify, but he did not give defense counsel notice.(R 106-111)(PT 384-398) Rutherford moved for a mistrial upon which the court reserved ruling until the conclusion of the trial. (PT 384-398, 578-632) The jury found Rutherford guilty as charged on January 31, 1986.(R 74) recommendation of death was returned on February 1, 1986.(R 75) Rutherford filed a motion for new trial and renewed the motion for mistrial.(R 76-78, 83-98) Circuit Judge George Lowery granted the motion for mistrial on the ground of the prosecutor's knowing and willful violation of the discovery rules and the court's pretrial discovery order.(R 106-111) A new trial was scheduled in Walton County before Circuit Judge Clyde Wells.(R 113)

At the conclusion of the second trial, the jury again found Rutherford guilty as charged on October 2, 1986. (R 150-151) After hearing additional evidence in aggravation and mitigation, the jury recommended a death sentence by a vote of 7 to 5.(R 156) Judge Wells ordered a presentence investigation.(R 934) On December 9, 1986, the court adjudged Rutherford guilty and sentenced him to death for the murder and 30 years for the robbery.(R 158-162) In support of the death sentence, the court found three aggravating circumstances: (1)

the homicide was committed during a robbery and for pecuniary gain; (2) the homicide was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel; and (3) the homicide was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. (SSR 3-6) (A 1-4) The court found as a statutory mitigating circumstance that Rutherford had no significant history of prior criminal activity. (SSR 3-6) (A 1-4)

Rutherford timely filed his notice of appeal to this Court on December 23, 1986.(R 163)

Statement of the Facts--Guilt Phase

Stella Salaman lived alone in her Santa Rosa County home.(R.573) On August 22, 1985, she did some shopping between 9:30 and 10:30 a.m.(R 492-498) and had an appointment to take an evening walk around 6:30 with her neighbor, Beverly Elkins.(R 572-575) At 6:30, Elkins telephoned Salaman's residence but received no answer. (R 575) She walked outside, saw Salaman's car in her driveway and decided to walk over to her friend's house.(R 575-576) When no one answered the doorbell, Elkins walked to the rear of the house and peered in through the glass doors.(R 576-577) She noted that the television was playing in the living room and that Salaman's two small dogs were behaving in an unusual manner. (R 577) Elkins went to her home where she retrieved an extra key she kept to Salaman's house and returned. (R 577-578) By this time, Ann McWay, another walking companion, had joined her. (R 578) The two women used the key to enter through the carport door. (R

579) They immediately heard water running and followed the sound to the hall bathroom.(R 580) There, they found Stella Salaman's nude body floating in a bathtub full of water.(R 580-582) Elkins telephoned for assistance.(R 582)

David T. Nicholson, M.D., a pathologist, performed an autopsy on the following day. (R 558-560) He found that Salaman had suffered several injuries and that cause of death was a combination of blunt trauma to the back of the head, asphyxiation and drowning.(R 561-570) Three wounds to the head could have been caused by as many as three different instruments since each was slightly different.(R561-562) One was consistent with the head striking a hard, flat surface. (R 561) second and third were produced by a blow from a blunt object, but one of these wounds had a puncture quality to it indicating the object was somewhat sharp.(R 561-562) These blows to the head would have caused unconsciousness.(R 566) There were also bruises and abrasions to the nose, chin and lips consistent with something having been held over her mouth.(R 560-561) Bruises were present on the right arm and the left arm was broken at the elbow. (R 563) The left knee had an abrasion. (R 563) Nicholson finally found fluid in the lungs and water in the circulatory system, leading him to conclude that drowning was involved in the death.(R 563)

Crime scene technicians processed Salaman's house for evidence.(R 343-351, 499-525, 532-551) They found what appeared to be blood stains on the wall and floor of the bathroom.(R 509-510) Additionally, 17 latent finger and palm

prints were developed and submitted to the laboratory for comparison.(R 549)

Four witnesses testified to alleged incriminating statements Rutherford made to them. (R 372,449, 476, 483) Harold Attaway testified first.(R 368) He said that on two occasions, two weeks and one week before Salaman's death, Rutherford talked about killing a lady for her money. (R 373-374) Rutherford allegedly stated that he would make it appear like an accident as a result of a fall in the bathtub. (R 374) Attaway thought Rutherford was joking.(R 373) On the day of the homicide, August 22, Rutherford came to Attaway's house at 6:30 a.m. and asked him to help pick up some glass doors at a lady's house where he had been performing carpentry work. (R 371) Attaway agreed to help, and after the men drank coffee at a convenience store, they proceeded to Stella Salaman's house about 7:00.(R 371) On the way, Rutherford allegedly said, "If I reach for that gun you'll know I mean business."(R 372) This frightened Attaway because he thought Rutherford really meant to kill the woman. (R 373) At Salaman's house, she and Rutherford had a normal conversation, the men loaded the doors in Rutherford's van and drove away. (R 375-376) Attaway returned home, and at 7:45 a.m., he went to work with A.J. Luker and Gerald Perritt removing trees. (R 377-379) Luker testified that Attaway was with him all day until 5 or 6 o'clock that evening.(R 388-390) Attaway admitted that he was incarcerated at the time of testifying awaiting trial on charges of possession of 50 pounds of marijuana. (R 380)

John Cook and Sherman Pittman also testified that Rutherford talked to them about obtaining money from a lady. (R 475-487) These conversations occurred one to two weeks before the homicide.(R 477,483) One week before the crime, Rutherford allegedly told Cook that he knew where they could make some easy money. (R 476) He then related how he could strike the lady in the head to obtain it.(R 477) The lady was not named in the conversation.(R 478) Pittman had a discussion with Rutherford two weeks prior to the homicide in which Rutherford allegedly mentioned the name "Salaman." (R 485) According to Pittman, Rutherford said he needed money and was going to force a woman to write a check as if for payment for construction work.(R 483) He said he would grab her by the arm to make her sign the check, and afterwards he would put her in the bathtub.(R 483) Pittman said that Rutherford offered no explanation concerning the bathtub remark.(R 484) Neither Cook nor Pittman took these statements seriously and did not call the police.(R 478, 488)

On August 22, 1985, Johnny Cecil Perritt talked to Rutherford two times.(R 448- 449) The first was around 8:00 in the morning and the second was between 1:00 and 2:00 in the afternoon.(R 448-449) During the afternoon, Rutherford allegedly said that he had killed a lady and had \$1500.(R 449) He asked Perritt to hold \$1400 for him.(R 449) Rutherford stated that he had hit the woman with a hammer, stripped her and placed her in the bathtub.(R 449) Perritt refused to hold the money.(R 450) Rutherford then said that he had not killed

anyone and that the money was borrowed.(R 450) Perritt told his parents about the conversation.(R 450,462,469) Later, upon hearing a news report about the homicide, Perritt's father called the police.(R 470) Rutherford talked to Perritt again the next morning between seven and eight o'clock. (R 451) He denied killing anyone and said the police had interrogated him most of the night trying to pin the murder on him.(R 451-452)

Mary Heaton obtained \$2000 with a check drawn on Stella Salaman's account on August 22, 1985.(R 403-410, 435-442) The bank teller, Jamie Peleggi, first refused to cash the check because Stella Salaman's signature was missing.(R 437-438) About 40 minutes later, Heaton returned with the check signed, and Peleggi cashed it at 2:02 p.m.(R 439) Heaton received the funds in \$100 bills.(R 440) Peleggi did not see Rutherford with Heaton.(R 442) Salaman's friend, Beverly Elkins, testified at trial that the signature on the check was not in Stella Salaman's handwriting.(R 584)

According to Heaton, she cashed the check at Rutherford's request. On August 22, 1985, Rutherford came to Heaton's home around noon.(R 399) He asked her father if he wanted two glass doors.(R 400) After that discussion, Rutherford then asked Heaton if she could write a check.(R 400) She can neither read nor write anything beyond her own name.(R 400-401) Rutherford said he wanted to pay her for past work as his baby-sitter and housekeeper.(R 399,401-402) Since Heaton could not write the check, Rutherford obtained assistance from Heaton's 14 year-old niece, Elizabeth Ward.(R 425-431) Ward filled out the check

for \$2000 but refused to provide any of the signatures. (R 428-430) The check was made payable to Mary Heaton, and according to Ward, Rutherford endorsed the back of the check with her name.(R429-430) Heaton testified that Rutherford then drove her to the bank where her first attempt to cash the check was not successful.(R 402-405) She said the two of them went to a wooded area where Rutherford threw away a blue wallet and a checkbook.(R 407) When he returned with the check, it had the required signature.(R 408) They returned to the bank, Heaton cashed the check and Rutherford gave her \$500.(R 410) The same day, Heaton used \$350 as a down payment on a used car, telling the salesman the money was a tax refund.(R 411, 443-446) On cross examination, Heaton admitted that she was then hospitalized for mental illness, and during August 1985, she had difficulty distinguishing fact from fantasy.(R 411-412)

A fingerprint expert, Otis Garrett, compared the 17 latent prints found at the scene with the known prints of the victim and Rutherford.(R 532-551) He was unable to identify some of the prints.(R 549) However, three prints from the bathroom tile underneath the window proved to be Rutherford's.

(R535-546) Rutherford's prints were not found on the check or checkbook.(R 550)

Rutherford testified in his defense at trial.(R 602) He stated that he had known Stella Salaman for several years and had assisted in building her house ten years earlier.(R 607) Since that time, Rutherford had performed various repair jobs for her.(R607-609) Shortly before Salaman's death, Rutherford

had repaired sliding glass patio doors and the sliding shower doors in her hall bathroom.(R 607-610) He said that he would have touched the tile under the bathroom window during the latter repair job.(R 609) Just before the homicide, Salaman had asked Rutherford to begin painting the trim on her house the following week.(R 612)

Rutherford denied killing Stella Salaman and denied ever having or discussing a plan to kill anyone. (R620-624,651-657) He related the details of his activities during the time of her death. On August 21, 1985, Rutherford worked at Salaman's house placing spacers in the new patio doors he had installed earlier with the help of Harold Attaway. (R 608) At that time, he also repaired the sliding shower doors in the hall bathroom. (R 609,628-629) Rutherford and Salaman agreed for him to take the extra patio doors and in exchange, he would reduce his bill for the future painting work by \$75.(R 612) Around 7:00 a.m. on August 22, 1985, Rutherford returned with Harold Attaway to pick up the doors. (R 613) They left Salaman's house about 7:30 and Attaway returned to his home. (R 613) At 8:15 a.m., Rutherford arrived at Johnny Cecil Perritt's house to discuss a construction job. (R 614) Johnny was assisting Rutherford build a balcony for Johnny's uncle.(R 614, 634) Next, Rutherford drove to Frank Kolb's house, arriving between 8:30 and 9:00.(R 614) Kolb loaned Rutherford \$10 at that time. (R 633, 661-663) Rutherford then drove to the Heaton residence where he asked Mr. Heaton, Mary Heaton's father, to store the glass doors for him. (R 615-616) Although Mary Heaton lived in

a trailer on her father's property, Rutherford denied seeing her or Elizabeth Ward that day.(R 638) He denied any knowledge about the check on Salaman's account.(R 616, 638) Leaving the Heaton residence between 11:00 and 11:30, Rutherford drove to a store and gasoline station where he stayed until 12:30.(R 616) Then he drove to Melvin's sawmill to check on lumber needed for the balcony job.(R 617) He stopped at Johnny Perritt's house again to tell him the lumber would be ready the following morning.(R 617-618) He left just before 2:00 p.m. and went home.(R 617-618) That afternoon, he and his wife shopped for school supplies for his children using \$120 they had saved for that purpose.(R618) At 11:00 p.m., sheriff investigators picked him up for questioning about the homicide.(R 619)

Statement of the Facts--Penalty Phase

The State presented five additional witnesses during the penalty phase of the trial.(R 783-830) Two testified concerning physical evidence and three were friends of the victim's. An investigator, Chuck Sloan, testified to the necessary predicate to introduce two photographs of the victim taken at the morgue during the autopsy.(R 783-786) Over defense objections (R 786), these photographs were introduced as State's exhibits 20 and 21.(R 786-787) Exhibit 20 depicts the injuries to the victim's mouth and exhibit 21 shows the injuries to the head.(R 787) Janice Johnson, a crime scene analyst, testified to her conclusions concerning the blood stain patterns found in the bathroom.(R 788-803) She found blood stains on the west

wall of the bathroom which she characterized as medium velocity spatters.(R 791-792) These are produced by blood shed as the result of someone being struck as opposed to a gunshot wound which would produce high velocity stains.(R 791-792) She also found low velocity stains which are consistent with blood being cast off of an object.(R 792) Based on the location of these stains, she concluded that the victim would have been located below the towel bar area at the time of the blow.(R 792) The patterns of blood would not have been made if the victim had received the injuries in the bathtub.(R 793)

Friends of Stella Salaman's testified to hearsay statements Salaman allegedly made to them concerning her anxiety about Arthur Rutherford. (R 804, 819) Lois LeVaugh related a conversation she had with Salaman about Rutherford and a time when she saw him at Salaman's house. (R805-810) According to LeVaugh, Salaman told her that Rutherford's presence at the house made her nervous. (R 806-807) One day Salaman called and said that Rutherford was there and had been there guite awhile concerning the patio doors. (R 806) The LeVaughs and two of their friends who were visiting drove to Salaman's house. (R 807-808) They saw Rutherford sitting on the front porch.(R 808) After a discussion about the doors, Rutherford left.(R 808) Salaman then told her friend, "I sure am nervous, he scared me. He really made me nervous."(R 807) Beverly Elkins testified that Salaman made similar remarks to her about Rutherford. (R 822-825) Elkins and Richard LeVaugh, Lois LeVaugh's husband, also testified to the ongoing problems

Salaman experienced with the ill fitting patio doors.(R 814-817, 820-825)

Rutherford's father, A. E. Rutherford, and sister, Joyce Coleman, testified about his youth while growing up on a farm in Santa Rosa County. (R 832,838) He had five brothers and two sisters.(R 833) His father described him as "a typical country boy" who worked hard on the farm and liked to hunt and fish. (R 833-834) His sister said that Rutherford always got along well with the others in the family and helped care for his brothers and sisters.(R 840-843) She also described a troubled period in their lives when their father left them for awhile. (R 847-848) Their mother took in washing, and the boys worked the farm to support the family.(R 847-848) Rutherford liked school, particularly the agriculture program. (R 835) He had no disciplinary reports from school (R 836) and was not a troublemaker.(R 841) After leaving school, Rutherford worked as a carpenter for a time and then voluntarily entered the Marine Corps.(R 836-837, 843) He served in combat in Viet Nam.(R 837,844) His father and sister said that Rutherford was nervous and jittery frequently after his return. (R 837,844)

Rutherford's wife of 14 years also testified.(R 849) They met and married shortly after he returned from Viet Nam.(R 850-851) For the first three years of marriage, Rutherford would frequently awaken during the night sweating, shaking and jerking, but he would never discuss his war experiences.(R 852) Rutherford was a good father to his five children.(R 851, 853-857) He helped care for them when they were infants.(R

854) He played with them and took the family on outings such as picnics, camping and fishing.(R 854) The family also attended the Bible Baptist Church.(R 856) Two of the children suffer from birth defects probably attributable to Rutherford's exposure to Agent Orange while in Viet Nam. (R 856-857) During his wife's testimony, a petition with nine pages of signatures from the people in the community was introduced in Rutherford's behalf.(R 857-858)

A long time family friend, Frank Kolb, testified in mitigation.(R 860) Kolb stated that Rutherford had a reputation for nonviolence and honesty in the community.(R863-864) He also said Rutherford was known as a good carpenter.(R 865)

Finally, Rutherford testified.(R 865) He related some of his experiences growing up on a farm, including the time when his father was gone and he and his brothers had to work the farm to help support the family.(R866-870) When he was 19, Rutherford joined the Marines.(R 872) Thirteen months of his military career was spent in combat in Viet Nam.(R 875) During that time, he was exposed to Agent Orange which is the suspected cause of the birth defects his three children suffer.(R 879-880) Rutherford was decorated for his service and received an honorable discharge at the rank of lance corporal.(R 881-884)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

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