IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

APR A 1980 CLERK URT By CASE NO. 69,825 Deputy Class.

6

ARTHUR D. RUTHERFORD,

٧.

4547×36

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Appellant,

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR SANTA ROSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

HELEN P. NELSON ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Appellant argues that, "the trial court relied upon the unsupported conclusion that Rutherford lacked remorse for the crime. (AB. 23). This argument is without merit and is a misrepresentation of the trial court's written findings. The trial court stated,

While the Court cannot use the attitude

- 15 -

of the defendant and his lack of crime remorse for this as an aggravating circumstance, the Court does find that the defendant's lack of remorse adds weight to the Court's determination that the crime was especially heinous, atrocious anđ cruel. (Emphasis supplied)

The trial court recognized and clearly stated that it could not use lack of remorse as an aggravating circumstance. The Court merely stated that lack of remorse "adds weight" to the determination that the crime was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel. Although, in its written findings, the trial court cited <u>Sireci v. State</u>, 399 So.2d 964 (Fla. 1981) the court plainly did not rely on lack of remorse as an aggravating circumstance.

In Pope v. State, 441 So.2d 1073 (Fla. 1983) this Court recognized that lack of remorse is not aggravating an circumstance, nor should it enhance an aggravating factor. Accord, Patterson v. State, 513 So.2d 1263 (Fla. 1987); McCampbell v. State, 421 So.2d 1072 (Fla. 1982).

Reading the trial court's written findings reveal that there was not an enhancement of the heinous, atrocious and cruel aggravating factor based upon the improper use of lack of remorse. The court made the determination of heinous, atrocious and cruel in the first paragraph and then in the following paragraph discussed the lack of remorse, stating that the lack of remorse adds weight to the court's determination. The court made the determination prior to discussing lack of remorse and the court clearly recognized that it could not consider lack of remorse in making its determination. There was no error in the finding that the homicide was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel.

Β.

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT THE HOMICIDE WAS COMMITTED IN A COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED MANNER WITHOUT ANY PRETENSE OF MORAL OR LEGAL JUSTIFICATION.

In its sentencing order the court found as follows:

(i) The crime was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretence (sic) of moral or legal justification. This aggravating circumstance was proven by the witnesses whom the defendant told of his plan to kill the victim to get her money. The defendant discussed this crime with two or more people and stated to one of them that he would do the crime, but would not do the time. This was further established by the testimony at the penalty phase of the trial that indicated the victim was deathly afraid of the defendant and had expressed her fear of the defendant and her fear of being alone with him.

(SSR. 4).

The evidence presented proved beyond a reasonable doubt that a heightened form of premeditation existed, one exhibiting a cold, calculated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

The evidence showed that Rutherford planned in advance to rob and murder the victim who was extremely frightened of him. Rutherford had discussed his plan to kill the victim in order to get her money with three of the state's witnesses. He had a fully formed conscious purpose to kill. Wilson v. State, 493 So.2d 1019 (Fla. 1986). He planned the crime in advance and attempted to get others to help him execute his plan. Whether or not the evidence shows a premeditated design to commit a murder is a question of fact for the jury which may be established by circumstantial evidence. Preston v. State, 444 So.2d 939 (Fla. 1984) The jury in the guilt phase, found Rutherford guilty of premeditated murder. There was no error in the trial court finding that the homicide was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

C.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY CONSIDERED NONSTATUTORY MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES.

Mitigating circumstances were addressed by the trial court in its sentencing order as follows:

> The Court has also considered the mitigating circumstances presented in this case, including those listed in 941.141(6) and the possibility of mitigating factors other than those listed in the Statute.

> > - 18 -

The Court finds mitigating factor "a" present in that the defendant had no prior significant history of criminal activity.

The Court has considered the testimony of the defendant regarding his past, including his extensive testimony about When his his record in Vietnam. testimony is weighed against the credibility of the defendant on other matters where the Court was able to credibility, considered his test further in light of the total lack of any corroboration, the Court concludes were no other factors that there presented that constitute mitigating factors.

(SSR. 5).

The trial court is not required to find nonstatutory mitigating circumstances in every case. In fact, this Court held in Porter v. State, 429 So.2d 293 (Fla. 1983) as follows:

> There is no requirement that a court must find anything in mitigation. The only requirement is that the consideration of mitigating circumstances must not be limited to those listed in §921.141(6), Fla.Stat. (1981). What Porter really complains about here is the weight the trial court accorded the evidence Porter presented in mitiga-However, mere disagreement with tion. the force to be given [mitigating evidence] is an insufficient basis for challenging a sentence. Quince v. State, 414 So.2d 185, 187 (Fla. 1982).

Id. at 296.

The trial court instructed the jury, "Among the mitigating circumstances you may consider, if established by the evidence, are: one, Arthur D. Rutherford has no significant history of prior criminal activity. Two, any other aspect of the defendant's character or record, and any other circumstances of the offense." (R. 921).

It is clear from the record that the trial judge understood that Appellant was entitled to the benefit of any nonstatutory mitigating circumstances.

It is within the province of the trial judge to decide whether a particular mitigating circumstance has been proven and the weight to be given that factor. <u>Toole v. State</u>, 479 So.2d 731 (Fla. 1985); <u>Smith v. State</u>, 407 So.2d 894 (Fla. 1982); <u>Card v. State</u>, 453 So.2d 17 (Fla.) <u>cert. denied</u>, 469 U.S. 989, 105 S.Ct. 396, 83 L.Ed.2d 330 (1984); <u>Card v. Dugger</u>, 512 So.2d 829 (Fla. 1987). Reversal is not warranted simply because Rutherford concludes differently.

ISSUE III

COURT THE TRIAL DID NOT SENTENCE RUTHERFORD TO DEATH BY USING A COUNTING PROCESS EVALUATE WHETHER TO THE OUTWEIGHED AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES THE MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES. (Restated by Appellee)

Appellant argues that the trial court erred in sentencing Rutherford to death by using a counting process to evaluate whether the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating circumstances and cites as authority <u>State v. Dixon</u>, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973) and <u>Proffitt v. Florida</u>, 428 U.S. 242 (1976). (AB. 29). This argument must fail.

A sentencing scheme is provided in §921.141, Fla.Stat. where the aggravating circumstances are weighed against the mitigating ones in order to determine the appropriate sentence. <u>State v.</u> <u>Dixon</u>, 283 So.2d 1, 7 (Fla. 1973) states that because the process is qualitative not quantitative, this "weighing process is left to the carefully scrutinized judgment of the jurors and judges."

The trial court, in the case <u>sub judice</u>, followed the standard enunciated in <u>State v. Dixon</u>, <u>supra</u>, and carefully weighed the aggravating and mitigating circumstances in a qualitative manner.

The trial court did not utilize a counting process resulting in the imposition of the death sentence merely because the total

- 21 -

number of aggravating circumstances exceeded the total number of mitigating ones.

This case bears little resemblance to the facts of <u>Proffitt</u>, <u>supra</u>. Here the Appellant had a premeditated plan which he implemented resulting in the robbery and brutal death of an elderly woman.

The jury was correctly instructed, contrary to Appellant's assertions in brief, as to how to evaluate the aggravating and mitigating circumstances. The instructions were in pertinent part as follows:

> THE COURT; Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, it is now your duty to advise the Court as to what punishment should be imposed upon the defendant for the of crime first degree premeditated felony murder. As you have been told, the final decision as to what punishment shall be imposed is the responsibility of the judge. However, it is your duty to follow the law that will now be given to you by the Court and render to the Court an advisory sentence based upon your determination as to whether sufficient aggravating circumstances exist to justify the imposition of the death penalty and whether sufficient mitigating circumstances exist to outweigh any aggravating circumstances found to exist.

> Your advisory sentence should be based upon the evidence that you have heard while trying the guilt or innocence of the defendant and evidence that has been presented to you in these proceedings.

The aggravating circumstances that you may consider are limited to any of the following that are established by the evidence.

One, the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed while he was engaged in the commission of the crime of robbery.

Two, the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed for financial gain.

Three, the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was especially wicked, evil, atrocious or cruel.

Four, the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

The aggravating circumstance regarding the crime being committed during a robbery and the aggravating circumstance that the crime was committed for financial gain merges and becomes only one aggravating circumstance.

If you find the aggravating circumstances do not justify the death penalty, your advisory sentence should be one of life imprisonment without possibility of parole for twenty-five years.

Should you find sufficient aggravating circumstances do exist, it will then be your duty to determine whether mitigating circumstances exist that outweight the aggravating circumstances.

Among the mitigating circumstances you may consider, if established by the evidence, are: one, Arthur D. Rutherford has no significant history of prior criminal activity.

Two, any other aspect of the defendant's character or record, and any other circumstances of the offense.

Each aggravating circumstance must be established beyond a reasonable doubt before it may be considered by you in arriving at your decision.

If one or more aggravating circumstances are established, you should consider all of the evidence tending to establish one or more mitigating circumstances and give that evidence such weight as you feel it should receive in reaching your conclusion as to the sentence that should be imposed.

A mitigating circumstance need not be proved beyond a reasonable doubt by the defendant. If you are reasonably convinced that a mitigating circumstance exists, you may consider it as established.

The sentence that you recommend to the Court must be based upon the facts as you find them from the evidence and the law. You should weigh the aggravating circumstances against the mitigating circumstances and your advisory sentence must be based on these considerations.

In these proceedings it is not necessary that the advisory sentence of the jury be unanimious (sic).

The fact that the determination of whether you recommend a sentence of death or a sentence of life imprisonment in this case can be reached by a single ballot should not influence you to act hastily or without due regard to the gravity of these proceedings. Before you ballot, you should carefully weigh, sift and consider the evidence, and all of it, realizing that human life is at stake and bring to bear your best judgment in reaching your advisory sentence.

(R. 920-923).

There is no reversible error in these jury instructions. Given the facts of this case, considering both aggravating and mitigating circumstances, death is the appropriate sentence for Rutherford.

ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT CONSIDER AND GIVE WEIGHT TO THE SENTENCING RECOMMENDATION OF THE JURY FROM THE PRIOR TRIAL WHICH HAD RESULTED IN A MISTRIAL. (Restated by Appellee)

Appellant argues that in his sentencing order the trial judge specifically considered and gave weight to the first jury's sentencing recommendation. This argument is misleading, inaccurate and completely without merit.

Rutherford's death sentence was not based in part upon consideration of the jury's recommendation from the first trial, in violation of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments. The trial court merely commented in his sentencing order, that, "the appropriate sentence in this case is the sentence that was recommended by the trial jury by a majority of seven and by the previous mistrial jury by a majority of eight." (SSR. 5-6). Clearly, the trial court did not consider and give weight to the first jury's sentencing recommendation.

The sentencing order, read in its entirety, makes it clear that the trial court considered the aggravating and mitigating factors and concluded that the appropriate sentence for the crime committed in this case is death. This sentence conformed to the sentence recommended by the trial jury. It also happened to be the sentence recommended by the mistrial jury. The trial judge's comment plainly does not constitute reversible error. This case bears no resemblance to the facts present in <u>Huff</u> <u>v. State</u>, 495 So.2d 145 (Fla. 1986), cited by Appellant, wherein the trial judge took judicial notice of the entire proceedings in the first trial of Huff, which had been reversed for a new trial.

Appellant further cites <u>Lucas v. State</u>, 417 So.2d 250 (Fla. 1982) in support of his argument. In <u>Lucas</u> the trial court, on remand, relied on the original sentencing order which clearly distinguishes it from the facts of the instant case where the trial court did not rely on the first jury's recommendation.

Reversible error was not committed. Rutherford was properly sentenced as evidenced by reading the sentencing order. (SSR. 3-6).

ISSUE V

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING HEARSAY EVIDENCE DURING THE PENALTY PHASE OF THE TRIAL. (Restated by Appellee)

During the penalty phase of the trial, the State introduced the testimony of three of the victim's friends. (R. 804, 814, 819).

Appellant argues that, "Much of their testimony consisted of hearsay statements the victim allegedly made concerning her anxious feelings when Rutherford was present.", and that the admission of this testimony constituted error. (AB. 35).

With reference to the testimony of friend, Lois LaVaugh, the defense made no objection to her testimony. (R. 804-810). Since Appellant did not timely object to the testimony he has not preserved this point for appellate review. <u>Clark v. State</u>, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978). The purpose of an objection by counsel is to ferret out possible prejudice and correct it at the time of trial. Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978).

With reference to the testimony of friend, Richard LaVaugh, Appellee submits that he gave no testimony on direct examination relative to the victim's anxious feelings about Rutherford. (R. 813-817). In fact, defense counsel on cross-examination, solicited the only testimony about the victim's fear of Rutherford. The State cannot be blamed for defense counsel's questions. (R. 819). Clearly, there is no reversible error relative to the testimony of Richard LaVaugh.

With reference to the testimony of friend, Beverly Elkins, the defense made no objection to her testimony concerning the victim's fears of Rutherford. (R. 823-825). Appellant did not timely object and thus has not preserved this point for review. (See argument above).

No error occurred by the trial court allowing the testimony of the three friends. Plainly, there is no merit to this argument.

ISSUE VI

APPELLANT WAS NOT DENIED HIS CONSTITU-TIONAL RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL WHEN THE TRIAL COURT ORDERED HIM TO BE PLACED IN LEG IRONS, OUTSIDE THE PRESENCE OF THE JURY, DURING THE CLOSING ARGUMENTS OF THE PENALTY PHASE OF THE TRIAL. (Restated by Appellee)

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